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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking
statements by terms such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “objective,” “ongoing,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,”
“project,” “should,” “will” and “would,” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions intended to identify statements about the future. We have based these
forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. These forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements about:
 
 ● our estimates regarding expenses, revenue, capital requirements and timing and availability of and the need for additional financing will almost certainly not

match actual amounts and timing;
   
 ● our ability to continue as a going concern for the next twelve months;
   
 ● the risk that our lead product candidate PF614 and PF614-MPAR may not be successful in limiting or impeding abuse, overdose, or misuse or providing additional

safety upon commercialization;
   
 ● reliance by us on third-party contract research organizations, or CROs, for our research and development activities and clinical trials;
   
 ● the need for substantial additional funding to complete the development and commercialization of our product candidates;
   
 ● the risk that our clinical trials may fail to replicate positive results from earlier preclinical studies or clinical trials conducted by us or third parties;
   
 ● the risk that the potential product candidates that we develop may not progress through clinical development or receive required regulatory approvals within

expected timelines or at all;
   
 ● the risk that clinical trials may not confirm any safety, potency, or other product characteristics described or assumed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q;
   
 ● the risk that we will be unable to successfully market or gain market acceptance of our product candidates;
   
 ● the risk that our product candidates may not be beneficial to patients or successfully commercialized;
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 ● the risk that we have overestimated the size of the target market, patients’ willingness to try new therapies, and the willingness of physicians to prescribe these

therapies;
   
 ● effects of competition;
 
 ● the risk that third parties on which we depend for laboratory, clinical development, manufacturing, and other critical services will fail to perform satisfactorily;
   
 ● the risk that our business, operations, clinical development plans and timelines, and supply chain could be adversely affected by the effects of health epidemics
   
 ● the risk that we will be unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for its investigational products or will infringe the intellectual

property protection of others;
 
 ● the loss of key members of our management team;
   
 ● changes in our regulatory environment;
   
 ● the ability to attract and retain key scientific, medical, commercial, or management personnel;
   
 ● changes in our industry;
   
 ● our ability to remediate any material weaknesses or maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting;
   
 ● the risk that our common stock will be delisted from Nasdaq;
   
 ● the risk that we may not be able to maintain compliance with applicable listing standards of Nasdaq;
   
 ● potential litigation associated with the Business Combination Transactions;
   
 ● other factors disclosed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q; and
   
 ● other factors beyond our control.
 
The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are based on Ensysce’s current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and
their potential effects on Ensysce. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting Ensysce will be those that Ensysce has anticipated. These forward-looking
statements involve risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond Ensysce’s control) or other assumptions that may cause actual results or performance to be materially
different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those factors described under the
heading “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Should one
or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of the assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected in these
forward-looking statements. Moreover, the occurrence of the events described in the “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K may adversely affect Ensysce. Ensysce
will not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be
required under applicable securities laws.
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GLOSSARY
 

Definitions:   
   
2021 Notes  The senior secured convertible promissory notes in the aggregate original principal amount of $15.9 million, sold in two

closings on September 24, 2021, and November 5, 2021, respectively, pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement
entered into on September 24, 2021

2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan  Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. Amended and Restated 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“Plan”)
2022 Notes  The senior secured convertible promissory notes in the aggregate original principal amount of $8.5 million, sold in two

closings on June 30, 2022, and August 8, 2022, respectively, pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement entered into on
June 30, 2022

2023 Notes  The senior secured convertible promissory notes in the aggregate original principal amount of $1.8 million, sold in two
closings on October 25, 2023, and November 28, 2023, respectively, pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement
entered into on October 23, 2023

2023 May Offering  The Company’s May 2023 registered direct offering of common stock (including pre-funded warrants in lieu thereof) for
aggregate consideration of $7.0 million

2024 February Warrant Inducement  The Company’s February 2024 transaction including the cash exercise of certain existing warrants at a reduced price and
the issuance of new warrants

2024 August Warrant Inducement  The Company’s August 2024 transaction including the cash exercise of certain existing warrants at a reduced price and the
issuance of new warrants

August Inducement Letter  Inducement offer letter entered into with certain holders of existing warrants to purchase 480,234 shares of the Company’s
common stock (issued in February of 2024) to reduce the exercise price from $15.90 per share to $7.05 per share. The
Company also agreed to amend certain existing warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 133,334 shares of common
stock that were previously issued in November 2023 and had an exercise price of $23.51 per share such that the amended
warrants have a reduced exercise price of $7.05 per share.

2025 Registered Direct Offering  A definitive Securities Purchase Agreement with certain institutional investors, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
issue and sell in a registered direct offering

2025 March Warrant Offering  An agreement by the Company to issue and sell unregistered warrants of Common Stock, Series A-5, and Series A-6
warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock

2025 April Warrant Inducement
 

 The Company’s April 2025 Inducement offer letter entered into with certain holders of existing warrants to purchase
630,376 shares of the Company’s common stock (issued in March of 2025) and the issuance of new warrants exercisable
for an aggregate of up to 1,260,752 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $1.90 per share.

CMOs  Contract manufacturing organizations
Company  Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries
Covistat  A subsidiary renamed EBIR, Inc.
CROs  Contract research organizations
EB  Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. prior to its merger with Signature Acquisition Corp. pursuant to the EB-ST Agreement.
EBIR  Previously known as Covistat, Inc., EBIR, Inc. is a clinical stage pharmaceutical company that is developing a compound

utilized in the Company’s overdose protection program for the treatment of COVID-19 and 79.2%-owned subsidiary of the
Company

EB-ST Agreement  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 28, 2015, by and among Signature, SAQ, and EB
Ensysce  Ensysce Biosciences, Inc.
Exchange Act  Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
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Definitions:   
   
FDA  United States Food and Drug Administration
Former Ensysce  Ensysce Biosciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation, prior to the consummation of the merger with and into Merger Sub
GAAP  Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America
JOBS Act  Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012
LACQ  Leisure Acquisition Corp., a Delaware Corporation
Merger  The merger of Merger Sub with and into Former Ensysce, with Former Ensysce continuing as the surviving entity and a

wholly owned subsidiary of LACQ, which changed its name to Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. following consummation of the
Merger.

Merger Sub  EB Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of LACQ prior to the consummation of the
Merger

MPAR Grant  Research and development grant related to the development of its MPAR® overdose prevention technology awarded to the
Company by NIH through NIDA in September 2018

Nasdaq  The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
NIDA  National Institute of Drug Abuse
NIH  National Institutes of Health
OUD Grant  Research and development grant related to the development of its TAAP/MPAR® abuse deterrent technology for Opioid

Use Disorder awarded to the Company by NIH/NIDA in September 2019
Registered Direct Offering  August 2024 registered direct offering of common stock (236,880 shares), private placement warrants (to purchase up to

473,760 shares) and the cash exercise of certain existing warrants (480,234 warrant shares) at a reduced price and the
issuance of new warrants (to purchase up to 1,440,701 shares).

SAQ  Signature Acquisition Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Signature
SEC  U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
Securities Act  Securities Act of 1933, as amended
Securities Purchase Agreement  The Securities Purchase Agreement, in September 2021, June 2022, October 2023, August 2024, or March 2025, as the

context dictates, by and between Ensysce and the institutional investors party thereto
Signature  Signature Therapeutics Inc.
SPA  The Securities Purchase Agreement, in September 2021, June 2022, October 2023, August 2024, or March 2025, as the

context dictates, by and between Ensysce and the institutional investors party thereto
TAAP  Trypsin Activated Abuse Protection
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Ensysce Biosciences, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 
  June 30, 2025 (Unaudited)   December 31, 2024  
Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,211,575  $ 3,502,077 
Unbilled receivable   1,204,979   124,115 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,865,041   1,718,490 

Total current assets   5,281,595   5,344,682 
Other assets   292,860   252,550 
Total assets  $ 5,574,455  $ 5,597,232 
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 1,042,832  $ 1,357,079 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   1,045,657   548,458 
Notes payable and accrued interest   424,521   301,660 

Total current liabilities   2,513,010   2,207,197 
Long-term liabilities:         

Other long-term liabilities   1,033   10,096 
Total long-term liabilities   1,033   10,096 
Total liabilities  $ 2,514,043  $ 2,217,293 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)       
Stockholders’ equity         

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,500,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at
June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024  $ -  $ - 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2025 and December 31,
2024; 2,393,262 and 1,355,779 shares issued at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively;
2,393,256 and 1,355,773 shares outstanding at June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively   241   136 
Additional paid-in capital   136,612,043   133,252,585 
Accumulated deficit   (133,223,223)   (129,544,299)

Total Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. stockholders’ equity   3,389,061   3,708,422 
Noncontrolling interests in stockholders’ deficit   (328,649)   (328,483)

Total stockholders’ equity   3,060,412   3,379,939 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 5,574,455  $ 5,597,232 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Ensysce Biosciences, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Unaudited)
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
Federal grants  $ 1,371,438  $ 181,797  $ 2,691,210  $ 487,519 
Operating expenses:                 

Research and development   1,923,430   947,229   3,808,957   1,726,133 
General and administrative   1,198,523   1,190,010   2,600,279   2,559,791 
Total operating expenses   3,121,953   2,137,239   6,409,236   4,285,924 

                 
Loss from operations   (1,750,515)   (1,955,442)   (3,718,026)   (3,798,405)
                 
Other income (expense):                 

Change in fair value of liability classified warrants   (853)   7,818   9,063   16,773 
Interest expense, net   (3,160)   (27,563)   (7,017)   (1,275,628)
Other income and expense, net   21,011   7,394   36,890   (27,096)
Total other income (expense), net   16,998   (12,351)   38,936   (1,285,951)

Net loss  $ (1,733,517)  $ (1,967,793)  $ (3,679,090)  $ (5,084,356)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   (166)   -   (166)   (74)
Deemed dividend related to warrants down round provision   -   -   -   290 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (1,733,351)  $ (1,967,793)  $ (3,678,924)  $ (5,084,572)
Net loss per basic and diluted share:                 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic
and diluted  $ (0.79)  $ (3.35)  $ (2.04)  $ (9.98)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and
diluted   2,202,299   587,822   1,803,393   509,347 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Ensysce Biosciences, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)
 

  Stockholders’ Equity  
  Common Stock   Additional           

  
Number of

Shares   Amount   
Paid-In
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Noncontrolling
interests   Total  

Balance on March 31, 2024   488,612  $ 49  $ 128,422,916  $ (124,673,853)  $ (328,483)  $ 3,420,629 
Issuance of common stock upon inducement of warrants   54,801   5   (5)   -   -   - 
Stock-based compensation   -   -   26,549   -   -   26,549 
Reversed stock-split rounding adjustment   (1)   -   -   -   -   - 
Net loss   -   -   -   (1,967,793)   -   (1,967,793)
Balance on June 30, 2024   543,412  $ 54  $ 128,449,460  $ (126,641,646)  $ (328,483)  $ 1,479,385 
                         
Balance on March 31, 2025   1,644,728  $ 165  $ 134,538,708  $ (131,489,872)  $ (328,483)  $ 2,720,518 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants   98,152   11   42,850   -   -   42,861 
Issuance of common stock upon warrant inducement, net of
issuance cost   630,376   63   2,199,949   -   -   2,200,012 
Transaction costs associated with warrant inducement   -   -   (297,021)   -   -   (297,021)
Consultant settlement   20,000   2   36,919   -   -   36,921 
Stock-based compensation   -   -   90,638   -   -   90,638 
Net loss   -   -   -   (1,733,351)   (166)   (1,733,517)
Balance on June 30, 2025   2,393,256  $ 241  $ 136,612,043  $ (133,223,223)  $ (328,649)  $ 3,060,412 
                         
Balance on December 31, 2023   209,739   21  $ 121,234,195  $ (121,557,074)   (328,409)   (651,267)
Settlement of restricted stock units   5   —   —   —   —   — 
Conversion of convertible notes   49,702   5   1,168,595   —   —   1,168,600 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants   88,262   9   2,075,210   —   —   2,075,219 
Issuance of common stock upon warrant inducement, net of
issuance cost   195,709   19   4,718,276   —       4,718,295 
Transaction costs associated with warrant inducement   —   —   (806,862)   —   —   (806,862)
Stock-based compensation   —   —   59,756   —   —   59,756 
Reversed stock-split rounding adjustment   (5)   —   —   —   —   — 
Deemed dividend related to warrant down round provision   —   —   290   (290)   —   — 
Net loss   —   —   —   (5,084,282)   (74)   (5,084,356)
Balance on June 30, 2024   543,412  $ 54  $ 128,449,460  $ (126,641,646)  $ (328,483)  $ 1,479,385 
                         
Balance on December 31, 2024   1,355,773   136  $ 133,252,585  $ (129,544,299)   (328,483)   3,379,939 
Public offering   239,594   25   1,099,982   —   —   1,100,007 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants   147,513   15   390,840   —   —   390,855 
Transaction costs associated with public offering   —   —   (204,193)   —   —   (204,193)
Issuance of common stock upon warrant inducement, net of
issuance cost   630,376   63   2,199,949   —   —   2,200,012 
Transaction costs associated with warrant inducement   —   —   (297,021)   —   —   (297,021)
Consultant compensation   20,000   2   63,012   —   —   63,014 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   106,889   —   —   106,889 
Net loss   —   —   —   (3,678,924)   (166)   (3,679,090)
Balance on June 30, 2025   2,393,256  $ 241  $ 136,612,043  $ (133,223,223)  $ (328,649)  $ 3,060,412 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Ensysce Biosciences, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  
Cash flows from operating activities:         
Net loss  $ (3,679,090)  $ (5,084,356)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Accrued interest   6,107   29,113 
Amortization of orginal issue discount and debt issuance costs   -   1,197,200 
Change in fair value of liability classified warrants   (9,063)   (16,773)
Consultant compensation   203,014   - 
Stock-based compensation   106,889   59,756 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Unbilled receivable   (1,080,864)   (126,662)
Prepaid expenses and other assets   1,185   190,909 
Accounts payable   (314,247)   (1,795,404)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   351,789   (172,077)

Net cash used in operating activities   (4,414,280)   (5,718,294)
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Proceeds from public offerings   1,100,007   - 
Proceeds from warrant exercises   390,855   2,075,219 
Proceeds from warrant inducement, net of issuance costs   2,200,012   4,718,295 
Transaction costs from public offerings   (204,193)   - 
Transaction costs associated with warrant inducements   (291,611)   (465,494)
Repayment of convertible notes   -   (485,190)
Repayment of financed insurance premiums   (71,292)   (204,909)

Net cash provided by financing activities   3,123,778   5,637,921 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (1,290,502)   (80,373)
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period   3,502,077   1,123,604 
Cash and cash equivalents end of period  $ 2,211,575  $ 1,043,231 
         
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:         

Incremental fair value of February 2024 Warrant Inducement  $ -  $ 5,167,372 
Incremental fair value of April 2025 Warrant Inducement  $ 3,483,420  $ - 
Conversion of convertible notes into common stock  $ -  $ 1,168,600 
Transaction costs from warrant inducement  $ -  $ 341,368 
Transaction costs from public offerings  $ 5,410  $ - 
Deemed dividend related to warrants down round provision  $ -  $ 290 
Financed insurance premiums  $ 188,046  $ 235,155 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Ensysce Biosciences, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)
 

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
 
Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. (“Ensysce”), along with its 79.2%-owned subsidiary, EBIR, Inc. (“EBIR”, formerly known as Covistat, Inc.) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries EBI
Operating, Inc. and EBI OpCo, Inc. (collectively, the “Company”), is a clinical-stage biotech company using its proprietary technology platforms to develop safer prescription
drugs. The primary focus of the Company is its program developing abuse and overdose resistant pain technology with a clinical stage program being the abuse resistant, TAAP
(Trypsin Activated Abuse Protection) opioid product candidate, PF614. In addition, the Company is developing its MPAR® (Multi-Pill Abuse Resistance) technology for
overdose protection which will be applied to the PF614 program. The Company is also applying its TAAP and MPAR® technology to a methadone prodrug for use in the
treatment of Opioid Use Disorder.
 
In 2020, the Company commenced an initiative to develop a therapeutic for the treatment of certain coronavirus infections through the formation of a separate entity, EBIR, a
Delaware corporation. Pursuant to the articles of incorporation, EBIR was authorized to issue 1,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, and 100,000
shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share. Ensysce is a 79.2% stockholder in EBIR, with 19.8% and 1.0% of the shares held by certain key personnel of the
Company and an unrelated party, respectively. The non-Ensysce owned shares and the activity are reflected on the financial statements as noncontrolling interests.
 
NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. and its
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidation.
 
Reverse Stock Split
 
In December 2024, the Company completed a 1-for-15 reverse split of its outstanding common stock.
 
All references in these consolidated financial statements to shares and per share amounts in all periods have been retrospectively restated to reflect the effects of both reverse
splits noted above. The number of authorized shares and the par value of the shares did not change as a result of the reverse stock splits.
 
Going Concern
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates, among other things, the
realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.
 
The Company has not generated any product revenue. There is no assurance that profitable operations will ever be achieved, and, if achieved, would be sustained on a
continuing basis. Product development activities, clinical and pre-clinical testing, and commercialization of the Company’s product candidates are necessary to develop the
Company’s products and will require significant additional financing. There can be no assurance the Company will be able to obtain such funds. These matters, among others,
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
 
While the Company believes in the viability of its strategy to ultimately realize revenues and in its ability to raise additional funds, management cannot be certain that
additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to obtain adequate
financing and achieve profitable operations. As a result, these plans do not alleviate substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
12 months following the date these consolidated financial statements were issued.
 
The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.
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NOTE 3 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Use of Estimates and Assumptions
 
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and disclosed in the accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates and such differences may be material to the
consolidated financial statements. The more significant estimates and assumptions by management include, but are not limited to, the expense recognition for certain accrued
research and development services.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

 
For purposes of the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid instruments with maturity of three months
or less at the time of issuance to be cash equivalents.

 
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheet Risk
 
Cash and cash equivalents are financial instruments that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited in
accounts at large financial institutions and amounts currently exceed federally insured limits. The Company has no financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk of loss.
Additionally, the Company had a concentration in accounts payable, as one and three research and development vendors made up greater than 10% individually, and 55% and
74% in aggregate, of the outstanding accounts payable balance as of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, respectively.
 
Segments
 
The Company operates and manages its business as one reportable and operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise where separate
financial information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company’s
CODM is the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews consolidated financial information on a company-wide basis for purposes of allocating resources and assessing financial
performance and does not regularly review expenses or financial results on a more granular level.
 
Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment are fully depreciated, as such there is no depreciation expense recognized in the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024.
 
Fair Value Measurement
 
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, (“ASC 820”) provides guidance on the development and disclosure of fair value measurements. Under this accounting guidance, fair value
is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between willing market
participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or a liability.
 
The accounting guidance classifies fair value measurements in one of the following three categories for disclosure purposes:

 
 Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 
 Level 2: Inputs other than Level 1 prices for similar assets or liabilities that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.
   
 Level 3: Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity and values determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or

similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant judgment or estimation.
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The Company evaluates assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to determine the appropriate level at which to classify them for each
reporting period. This determination requires significant judgments to be made by the Company.

 
As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, the recorded values of cash and cash equivalents, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, and accrued expenses and other liabilities
approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these items.
 
Warrants
 
The Company issued liability classified warrants in connection with the issuance of the 2021 Notes and 2022 Notes. The warrants were liability classified due to certain cash
settlement features and included in “Other long-term liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company uses a Black Scholes model to estimate the fair value of the
warrants. Changes in the fair value of the warrants are recognized in other income (expense) for each reporting period. Refer to Note 9 for additional details of the warrants.
 
The following tables present assets and liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2025, and December 31,
2024.
 
  June 30, 2025  
  Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Liability classified warrants  $ 1,033  $ -  $ -  $ 1,033 
Total  $ 1,033  $ -  $ -  $ 1,033 
 
  December 31, 2024  
  Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Liability classified warrants  $ 10,096  $ -  $ -  $ 10,096 
Total  $ 10,096  $ -  $ -  $ 10,096 
 
The following table summarizes the change in fair value of the Company’s Level 3 liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2025 (no level 3 assets as of June 30, 2025):
 

  
Liability classified

warrants  
Fair value, December 31, 2024  $ 10,096 
Change in fair value   (9,063)
Fair value, June 30, 2025  $ 1,033 
 
Federal Grants
 
In September 2018, the NIH through the NIDA awarded the Company a research and development MPAR Grant. The initial grant was extended several times and cumulative
funding under this grant of approximately $10.7 million was completed in December 2023. A new multi-year MPAR Grant was awarded by NIH through NIDA in August 2024,
providing total funding of $15.1 million through May 2027, as adjusted. As June 30, 2025, remaining funding under the grant is $9.4 million.
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In September 2019, the NIH/NIDA awarded the Company a second research and development grant related to the development of its TAAP/MPAR abuse deterrent technology
for OUD Grant. The total approved budget was approximately $5.4 million, and the grant period ended August 31, 2024.
 
The Company recognizes revenue when costs related to the grants are incurred and assessed as reimbursable. The Company believes this policy is consistent with the
overarching premise in Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), applied by analogy, to ensure that it recognizes
revenues to reflect the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services, even though there is no “exchange” as defined in ASC 606. The Company believes the recognition of revenue as costs are incurred and reimbursable amounts
become due is analogous to the concept of transfer of control of a service over time under ASC 606.
 
The revenue recognized under the MPAR Grant and OUD Grant was as follows:
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
MPAR  $ 1,371,438  $ -  $ 2,691,210  $ - 
TAAP/OUD   -   181,797   -   487,519 
Total  $ 1,371,438  $ 181,797  $ 2,691,210  $ 487,519 
 
Amounts requested or eligible to be requested through the NIH payment management system, but for which cash has not been received, are presented as an unbilled receivable
on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. As all amounts are expected to be remitted timely, no valuation allowances are recorded.
 
Research and Development Costs
 
The Company’s research and development expenses consist primarily of third-party research and development expenses, consulting expenses, preclinical and clinical studies,
and any allocable direct overhead, including facilities and depreciation costs, as well as salaries, payroll taxes, and employee benefits for those individuals directly involved in
ongoing research and development efforts. Research and development expenses are charged to expense as incurred. Payments made prior to the receipt of goods or services to
be used in research and development are capitalized until the goods or services are received.
 
General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs associated with the Company’s executive, finance, human resources, compliance, and other
administrative personnel, as well as accounting and legal professional services fees.
 
Stock-based Compensation
 
The Company expenses stock-based compensation over the requisite service period based on the estimated grant-date fair value of the awards using a graded amortization
approach. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.
 
The Company estimates the fair value of stock option grants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based
awards represent management’s best estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. Stock-based compensation costs are recorded
in research and development and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
 
From time-to-time equity classified awards may be modified. On the modification date, the Company estimates the fair value of the awards immediately before and
immediately after modification. The incremental increase in fair value is recognized as expense immediately to the extent the underlying equity awards are vested and on a
straight-line basis over the same remaining amortization schedule as the unvested underlying equity awards.
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Income Taxes
 
Income taxes are recorded in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), which provides for deferred taxes using an asset and liability approach. The Company
recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements or tax returns.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the consolidated financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax
rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided if, based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
 
The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740. When uncertain tax positions exist, the Company recognizes the tax benefit of
tax positions to the extent that the benefit would more likely than not be realized assuming examination by the taxing authority. The determination as to whether the tax benefit
will more likely than not be realized is based upon the technical merits of the tax position as well as consideration of the available facts and circumstances. The Company
recognizes any interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.

 
Earnings (loss) per Share
 
The basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the Company’s net income or loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. The diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the Company’s net earnings attributable to common stockholders
by the diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, determined using the treasury stock method and the average stock price during the
period.
 
The following weighted average shares have been excluded from the calculations of diluted weighted average common shares outstanding because they would have been anti-
dilutive (the Company has utilized the principal balance outstanding and the end of period conversion price for the Convertible Notes for the purposes of the weighted average
share calculation below):
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024   2025   2024  
Stock options   100,675   38,679   71,050   38,679 
Warrants   3,262,893   733,667   3,032,161   691,576 
Convertible Notes   2,290   9,187   4,556   9,187 
Consultant Shares   4,600   -   4,600   - 
Total   3,370,458   781,533   3,112,367   739,442 
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.” ASU 2023-09 requires disaggregated
information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is effective for public entities with annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial
statements.
 
In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40):
Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (“ASU 2024-03”), which requires disclosure about the types of costs and expenses included in certain expense captions
presented on the income statement. The new disclosure requirements are effective for the Company’s annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its related disclosures.
 
In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-04, “Debt – Debt with Conversion and other Options (Subtopic 470-20) “, which set forth to improve the relevance and
consistency in the application of induced conversion guidance in Subtopic 470-20, Debt— Debt with Conversion and Other Options such as clarifying the requirements for
determining whether certain settlements of convertible debt instruments should be accounted for as an induced conversion. ASU 2024-04 is effective for all entities after
December 15, 2025, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 4 – PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:
 
  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Prepaid research and development  $ 1,060,659  $ 1,342,461 
Prepaid insurance   403,087   315,306 
Other prepaid expenses   160,265   42,723 
Other current assets   241,030   18,000 
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 1,865,041  $ 1,718,490 
 
NOTE 5 – OTHER ASSETS
 
  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Prepaid insurance  $ 166,667  $ 250,000 
Deposits   126,193   2,550 
Total other assets  $ 292,860  $ 252,550 
 
NOTE 6 – ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following:
 
  June 30, 2025   December 31, 2024  
Accrued research and development  $ 640,603  $ 324,521 
Accrued consultant compensation   180,000   - 
Accrued professional fees   57,562   88,995 
Other accrued liabilities   167,492   134,942 
Total accrued expenses and other liabilities  $ 1,045,657  $ 548,458 
 
NOTE 7 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Purchase Commitments
 
As of June 30, 2025, the Company’s commitments included an estimated $8.3 million related to the Company’s open purchase orders and contractual obligations that occurred
in the ordinary course of business, including commitments with contract research organizations for multi-year pre-clinical and clinical research studies. Although open purchase
orders are considered enforceable and legally binding, the terms generally allow the Company the option to cancel, reschedule, and adjust its requirements based on its business
needs prior to the delivery of goods or the performance of services.
 
Litigation
 
As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, there were no pending legal proceedings against the Company that are expected to have a material adverse effect on cash flows,
financial condition or results of operations. From time to time, the Company could become involved in disputes and various litigation matters that arise in the normal course of
business. These may include disputes and lawsuits related to intellectual property, licensing, contract law and employee relations matters. Periodically, the Company reviews
the status of significant matters, if any exist, and assesses its potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal claim is considered probable and the
amount can be estimated, the Company accrues a liability for the estimated loss. Legal proceedings are subject to uncertainties, and the outcomes are difficult to predict.
Because of such uncertainties, accruals are based on the best information available at the time. As additional information becomes available, the Company reassesses the
potential liability related to pending claims and litigation.
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Consultant Dispute
 
In April 2025, the Company entered into an agreement with a former independent contractor to resolve a dispute over payment. The Company denied the allegations but agreed
to settle the matter. In connection with the settlement agreement, the Company issued 20,000 shares of common stock to the consultant in April 2025. As of June 30, 2025, the
Company accrued a total settlement value of $0.2 million.
 
Galephar Agreement
 
In January 2025, the Company entered into a product development and supply agreement with Galephar Pharmaceutical Research, Inc., a Puerto Rico specialty drug
manufacturer (“Galephar”), to support the development, manufacture, packaging and testing of the Company’s PF614 and PF614-MPAR drug products for use in clinical trials
and potential future commercial launch.
 
Upon signing, the Company committed to issue 13,801 restricted shares of common stock (approximately 1% of shares outstanding), subject to vesting in three tranches upon
achievement of specific operational and regulatory milestones. The Company accounts for this share grant as nonemployee share-based compensation under ASC 718. One-
third of the shares vested immediately upon grant, and the remaining two-thirds will vest as services are performed. During the three and six months ended June 30,2025, the
Company recognized $0 and $25,806 of stock-based compensation related to the one-third immediate vesting of 4,600 shares upon grant date. As June 30, 2025, no shares have
been issued.
 
The agreement also provides for milestone-based payments, to be settled in common stock (50% restricted, 50% freely tradeable), based on the trailing five-day average closing
price at the time of each milestone achievement. Share-based expense for these milestone grants will be recognized as services are rendered. These awards are liability-
classified until shares are issued, at which point they will be reclassified to equity. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company recognized $120,000 and
$140,000 of research and development expense to be settled in shares that was related to milestone progression and is accrued under accrued expenses and other liabilities in
the consolidated balance sheet. As of June 30, 2025, no shares have been issued.
 
Lease
 
The Company’s current lease agreement (as amended) has a term that extends through October 31, 2025, with no option to renew. As of June 30, 2025, the future lease
payments totaled $11,818. The Company recognized total rent expense of $9,088 and $18,177 in the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and $8,747 and $17,495 in the
three and six-months ended June 30, 2024.
 
NOTE 8 - NOTES PAYABLE
 
The following table provides a summary of the Company’s outstanding debt as of June 30, 2025:
 

  
Principal
balance   Accrued interest   Net debt balance 

2023 Notes  $ 216,000  $ 20,475  $ 236,475 
Financed insurance   188,046   -   188,046 
Total  $ 404,046  $ 20,475  $ 424,521 

 
The following table provides a summary of the Company’s outstanding debt as of December 31, 2024:

 

  
Principal
balance   Accrued interest   Net debt balance 

2023 Notes  $ 216,000  $ 14,368  $ 230,368 
Financed insurance   71,292   -   71,292 
Total  $ 287,292  $ 14,368  $ 301,660 
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Interest expense
 
The interest expense recognized for financed insurance was $0 and $909 for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2025 and $148 and $2,092 for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2024. Interest expense recognized for the 2023 Notes was $3,160 and $6,107 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and $27,563 and $1.3
million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 , which consists of amortization of the debt discount and debt issuance costs and accrued interest.
 
2023 Notes
 
In October 2023, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreeement (“SPA”) for an aggregate financing of $1.8 million with investors, including $0.2 million with a
board member. At the first closing under the SPA, which occurred on October 25, 2023, the Company issued to the investors (i) senior secured convertible promissory notes in
the aggregate principal amount of $612,000 for an aggregate purchase price of $566,667 and (ii) warrants to purchase 83,714 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value
$0.0001 per share in the aggregate. At the second closing under the SPA, which occurred on November 29, 2023, the Company issued to the investors referenced above, (i)
additional notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1,224,000 for an aggregate purchase price of $1,133,333 and (i) additional warrants to purchase 167,427 shares of the
common stock in the aggregate.
 
The Company reflected the outstanding principal amount, the remaining unamortized discount (both original issue discount and the relative fair value discount associated with
the warrants discussed below) and the remaining debt issuance costs as a net amount on the face of the balance sheet. The amortization of the original debt discount
(approximately $0.1 million) and issuance costs (approximately $0.3 million) were recorded as interest expense within the consolidated statements of operations. As of
December 31, 2024, the original debt discount and issuance costs were fully amortized to interest expense.
 
The warrants have an exercise price of $23.5125, the same as the conversion price, and are exercisable for five years following the issuance date. The warrants were equity
classified as they are indexed to the Company’s stock and only settleable in shares. The warrants were initially measured at fair value using a Black-Scholes valuation model
and were allocated along with the 2023 Notes using the relative fair value method. The initial fair value of $1.1 million allocated to the warrants was considered a debt discount
and was amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the notes. As of December 31, 2024, the discount associated with the warrants was fully amortized to interest
expense.
 
During 2024, the Company converted 49,702 shares of common stock with a conversion value of $1.2 million related to the 2023 Notes. In addition, in connection with the
SPA, the Company incurred a $1.0 million waiver fee as a result of the 2024 February Warrant Inducement (see Note 9) to pay down $0.5 million of the 2023 Notes and
incurred $0.5 million in transaction costs recorded as such in the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity. As of June 30, 2025, the remaining amount of the 2023 Notes
relates to senior secured convertible promissory notes held by a Company board member (see Note 11).
 
Financed Insurance Premiums
 
In June 2025, the Company renewed and financed its directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in the amount of $0.2 million. Monthly payments are scheduled from July 2025
through March 2026.
 
NOTE 9 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
The Company’s current Certificate of Incorporation authorizes 250,000,000 shares of common stock and 1,500,000 shares of preferred stock, both with par value equal to
$0.0001. As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, there were no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.
 
2025 April Warrant Inducement
 
In April 2025, the Company entered into an Inducement Letter with certain warrant holders for the exercise of certain outstanding warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of
630,376 shares of common stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share. The warrants were issued in March 2025 and have an exercise price of $3.24 share. The shares
of common stock issuable upon exercise of such outstanding warrants are registered pursuant to an effective registration statement on Form S-3.
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In consideration for the immediate exercise of the warrants for cash and the payment of an additional $0.125 per new unregistered warrant (an additional $157,594 included in
the gross proceeds to the Company), pursuant to the Inducement Agreement, the Company agreed to issue and sell unregistered warrants to purchase shares of common stock.
The new warrants (the “Common Warrants”) are exercisable for an aggregate of up to 1,260,752 shares of common stock. The Common Warrants have an exercise price of
$1.90 per share and are immediately exercisable for shares of common stock. One half of the Common Warrants will expire after eighteen (18) months and the other half will
expire after five (5) years. The gross proceeds to the Company from the exercise of the warrants and payment for Common Warrants was approximately $2.2 million, prior to
deducting placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses.
 
The Company utilized a placement agent for the 2025 April Warrant Inducement and incurred approximately $0.3 million in legal fees and other closing costs. Additionally, the
Company issued to the placement agent as compensation unregistered warrants to purchase up to 44,126 shares of common stock, equal to 7.0% of the aggregate number of
shares of Common Stock (or warrants) placed in the transaction. The placement agent warrants expire on April 24, 2030, and have an exercise price of $4.05 per share of
common stock. The closing of the offering occurred on April 24, 2025.
 
2025 Registered Direct Offering and 2025 March Warrant Offering
 
In March 2025, the Company entered into a definitive SPA with certain institutional investors, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell in a registered direct
offering, (i) an aggregate of 239,594 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share at an offering price of $3.49 per share, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to
75,594 shares of common stock, at a price per pre-funded warrant equal to $3.4899, the price per share less $0.0001, for gross proceeds of approximately $1.1 million before
the deduction of placement agent fees and offering expenses. The pre-funded warrants were fully exercised as of March 31, 2025, and the related common shares were issued in
April 2025.
 
In a concurrent private placement, pursuant to the terms of the SPA, the Company also agreed to issue and sell unregistered warrants to purchase up to 315,188 shares of
Common Stock (the “Series A-5 Warrants”), and Series A-6 warrants to purchase up to 315,188 shares of Common Stock (the “Series A-6 Warrants”), to purchase up to an
aggregate 630,376 shares of Common Stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $3.24 per share and are exercisable immediately. The Series A-5 Warrants will expire
eighteen (18) months after issuance and the Series A-6 Warrants will expire five (5) years after issuance.
 
2024 Registered Direct Offering and 2024 August Warrant Inducement
 
In August 2024, the Company entered into a definitive SPA with certain institutional investors, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell in a registered direct
offering, (i) an aggregate of 166,054 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share at an offering price of $7.05 per share, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to
70,827 shares of common stock, at a price per pre-funded warrant equal to $7.0485, the price per share less $0.0015, for gross proceeds of approximately $1.7 million before
the deduction of placement agent fees and offering expenses. The pre-funded warrants were subsequently exercised in full.
 
The Company also entered into the August Inducement Letter with certain warrant holders for the exercise of certain outstanding warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of
480,234 shares of common stock of the Company originally issued in February 2024, having an exercise price of $15.90 per share, at a reduced exercise price of $7.05 per
share. The Company also agreed to amend certain existing warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 133,334 shares of common stock that were previously issued in
November 2023 and have an exercise price of $23.5125 per share such that the amended warrants will have a reduced exercise price of $7.05 per share effective upon the
closing of the offering and will be exercisable from the date on which stockholder approval is received with respect to the issuance of the shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of such warrants. As the existing November 2023 and February 2024 warrants and their related newly issued warrants upon inducement were equity classified before
and after the exchange, and as the exchange is directly attributable to an equity offering, the Company recognized the effect of the modification of approximately $10.2 million
as an equity issuance cost.
 
In a concurrent private placement, pursuant to the terms of the August Inducement Letter and SPA, the Company utilized an exclusive placement agent for the 2024 Registered
Direct Offering and 2024 August Warrant Inducement and incurred approximately $0.6 million in legal fees and other closing costs. Additionally, the Company issued to the
placement agent as compensation unregistered warrants to purchase up to 50,200 shares of Common Stock. The placement agent warrants expire on August 28, 2029, and have
an exercise price of $8.8125 per share of Common Stock.
 
2024 February Warrant Inducement
 
In February 2024, the Company executed an Inducement Letter with certain holders of existing warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 240,120 shares of the Company’s
common stock issued to the holders in connection with the 2023 May Offering. Pursuant to the Inducement Letter, the holders agreed to exercise for cash their existing warrants
to purchase an aggregate of 240,120 shares of Common Stock at a reduced exercise price of $19.65 per share in consideration of the Company’s agreement to issue new
unregistered Series A Warrants (the “Series A Warrants”) to purchase up to 240,120 shares of Common Stock and new unregistered Series B Warrants (the “Series B Warrants”)
to purchase up to 240,120 shares of Common Stock (collectively, the “New Warrant Shares”). The Series A Warrants have an exercise price of $15.90 per share and have a term
equal to eighteen months from the date of issuance. The Series B Warrants have an exercise price of $15.90 per share and will expire on May 12, 2028. The gross proceeds to
the Company from the exercise of the warrants were approximately $4.7 million, prior to deducting placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses. As the existing
warrants and the new warrants were equity classified before and after the exchange, and as the exchange is directly attributable to an equity offering, the Company recognized
the effect of the modification of approximately $5.2 million as an equity issuance cost.
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In connection with the execution of the Inducement Letter, the Company executed a waiver related to the 2023 Notes’ SPA it had entered into as of October 23, 2023. The SPA
contained restrictions on the Company’s ability to undertake certain transactions, which included the execution of the Inducement Letter. The Waiver permitted the Company to
execute the Inducement Letter but required repayment of the certain investor held notes issued under the SPA with a premium following closing of the transaction contemplated
thereby. Refer to Note 8 for the details of the waiver fee and the application of the amounts to the outstanding notes and as a transaction cost of the warrant inducement.
 
The Company utilized an exclusive placement agent for the 2024 Warrant Inducement and incurred approximately $0.3 million in legal fees and other closing costs.
Additionally, the Company issued to the placement agent as compensation unregistered warrants to purchase up to 16,811 shares of Common Stock, equal to 7.0% of the
aggregate number of shares of Common Stock (or warrants) placed in the transaction. The placement agent warrants expire on May 12, 2028, and have an exercise price of
$24.5625 per share of Common Stock (equal to 125% of the reduced exercise price per Existing Warrant). The closing of the offering occurred on February 14, 2024.
 
Warrants
 
The following table provides a summary of outstanding warrants to purchase shares of common stock as of June 30, 2025:
 

Reference  

Shares
Underlying

Outstanding
Warrants   Exercise Price   Description  Classification

(a)   1,282,320   $1.90 - $4.05  April 2025 Warrants  Equity
(b)   22,063   $4.3625  March 2025 Warrants  Equity
(c)   1,864,545   $7.05 - $8.8125  August 2024 Warrants  Equity
(d)   16,811   $24.56  February 2024 Warrants  Equity
(e)   162,881   $7.05 - $23.51  2023 Notes Warrants  Equity
(f)   73,474   $54.56 - $41,400  Other Warrants  Equity & Liability
   3,422,094         

 
(a) On April 24, 2025, the Company issued 1,304,878 equity classified warrants (Common Warrants and placement agent warrants) in connection with the Inducement Letter

of the 2025 April warrant inducement. The Common Warrants have an exercise price of $1.90 per share and are immediately exercisable for shares of common stock. One
half of the Common Warrants will expire on October 26, 2026, and the other half will expire on April 24, 2030. The placement agent warrants were immediately
exercisable with an exercise price of $4.05 per share and expire on April 24, 2030. In May 2025, a holder of the warrants exercised 22,558 warrants at an exercise price of
$1.90 per share.

  
(b) On March 31, 2025, in connection with the 2025 Registered Direct Offering and 2025 March Warrant Offering, the Company issued equity classified warrants to purchase

652,439 shares to certain institutional investors and the placement agent. The warrants were issued in connection with the 2025 Registered Direct Offering and 2025 March
Warrant Offering. The 630,376 investor warrants have an exercise price of $3.24 per share. One half of the warrants will expire on October 1, 2026, and the other half will
expire on March 31, 2030. The 22,063 placement agent warrants have an exercise price of $4.3625 per share and expire on March 30, 2030. In connection with the 2025
April Warrant Inducement, 630,376 investor warrants were exercised. As of June 30, 2025, the placement agents remain outstanding.

  
(c) On August 29, 2024, in connection with the 2024 Registered Direct Offering and 2024 August Warrant Inducement, the Company issued equity classified warrants to

purchase 1,964,666 shares to certain institutional investors and the placement agent. The warrants were issued in connection with the 2024 Registered Direct Offering and
the 2024 August Warrant Inducement. The 1,914,466 investor warrants have an exercise price of $7.05 per share. One half of the warrants expire on May 21, 2026, and the
other half expire on November 21, 2029. The 50,200 placement agent warrants have an exercise price of $8.8125 per share and expire on August 28, 2029. In December
2024 and January 2025, investor warrants of 50,760 and 49,361, respectively, were exercised.

  
(d) On February 12, 2024, the Company issued 497,047 equity classified warrants (Series A Warrants, Series B Warrants and placement agent warrants) in connection with the

Inducement Letter for the 2024 February warrant inducement and related warrant restructuring. The Series A and Series B Warrants were immediately exercisable with an
exercise price of $15.90 per share and expire on August 14, 2025 and May 12, 2028, respectively. The placement agent warrants were immediately exercisable with an
exercise price of $24.56 per share and expire on May 12, 2028. In connection with the 2024 August Warrant Inducement, 480,236 Series A and Series B warrants were
exercised. As of June 30, 2025, the placement agents remain outstanding.

  
(e) On October 25, 2023, and November 28, 2023, the Company issued warrants to purchase 83,714 shares and 167,428 shares, respectively. The warrants were immediately

exercisable with an exercise price of $23.51 per share and expire on October 25, 2028, and November 28, 2028, respectively. In January 2024, a holder of the warrants
exercised 88,261 warrants at an exercise price of $23.51 per share. In August 2024, an inducement letter was issued to a holder of 133,334 warrants to reduce the exercise
price from $23.51 to $7.05 per share.
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(f) At various dates from the Closing of the Business Combination through September 30, 2023, the Company assumed or issued a total of 73,474 warrants to provide holders

the right to purchase common stock at exercise prices ranging from $54.60 - $41,400 per share. A total of 2,778 of the outstanding warrants are public warrants which trade
on the OTC Pink Open Market under the ticker symbol ENSCW. A total of 2,901 outstanding warrants (issued in connection with the 2021 and 2022 Notes) are liability-
classified due to certain cash settlement features embedded within the warrant agreements. The remaining warrants are equity classified. The warrants expire beginning
June 30, 2026, through August 7, 2028.

 
NOTE 10 - STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
 
In connection with the Business Combination, the Company assumed the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan. In February 2025, the Company’s Board approved an annual increase
of 67,789 shares available for future grant under the 2021 Omnibus Plan (“Plan”).
 
The Company recognized within general and administrative expense stock-based compensation expense of $62,137 and $73,133 for the three and six months ended June 30,
2025 and $18,658 and $42,146 for the three and six month ended June 30, 2024. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense within research and development
expense of $150,222 and $201,569 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and $7,891 and $17,610 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024.
 
Option Activity
 
During the six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company granted stock options to purchase an aggregate of 64,000 shares of common stock to employees and members of the
board of directors. The options vest over one to four years and have an exercise price of $2.00 to $3.12 per share.
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity during the six months ended June 30, 2025:
 
     Weighted average     

  Options   Exercise price   
Remaining

contractual life   Intrinsic value  
Outstanding at December 31, 2024   38,785  $ 501.65   8.58  $ - 
Granted   64,000   2.94   9.76   - 
Exercised   -   -   -   - 
Expired / Forfeited   -   -   -   - 
Outstanding at June 30, 2025   102,785   191.13   9.12   - 
Exercisable at June 30, 2025   51,758   373.79   8.50   - 
Vested and expected to vest   102,785   191.13   9.12   - 
 
Option Valuation
 
The fair value of each stock option granted has been determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The material assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model in
estimating the fair value of the options granted for the periods presented were as follows:
 

  June 30, 2025  
Exercise price   $2.00 - 3.12 
Expected stock price volatility   114.21% - 141.65% 
Expected term (years)   5.27 - 6.08 
Risk-free interest rate    3.83% - 4.00% 
Expected dividend yield   0%

 
 ● Expected stock-price volatility. The expected volatility is derived from the historical volatilities of comparable publicly traded companies within the Company’s

industry that the Company considers comparable to the Company’s business over a period approximately equal to the expected term.
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 ● Expected term. The expected term represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. The Company’s historical share option exercise

experience does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate an expected term due to a lack of sufficient data. Therefore, the Company estimates the
expected term for employees by using the simplified method provided by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The simplified method calculates the expected
term as the average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the options.

   
 ● Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of grant for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities

approximately equal to the expected term.
   
 ● Expected dividend yield. The expected dividend is assumed to be zero as the Company has never paid dividends and has no current plans to pay any dividends on the

Company’s common stock.
 
The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the six months ended June 30, 2025 was $2.63.
 
As of June 30, 2025, the Company had an aggregate of $89,539 of unrecognized share-based compensation cost, which is expected to be recognized over the weighted average
period of 0.79 years.
 
Shares Reserved for Future Issuance
 
The following shares of common stock are reserved for future issuance:
 
  June 30, 2025  
Awards outstanding under the Plan   102,785 
Awards available for future grant under the Plan   14,385 
Warrants outstanding   3,422,094 
Shares for consultant compensation agreement outside the Plan   13,801 
Total shares of common stock reserved for future issuance   3,553,065 
 
NOTE 11 - RELATED PARTIES
 
As of June 30, 2025, the Company held a $0.2 million senior secured convertible promissory note plus accrued interest and 29,547 warrants exercisable for common stock at
$23.51 per share issued to a board member in connection to the issuance of the 2023 Notes. The Company and the board member have entered into a forbearance agreement
that will expire on April 25, 2026. Upon termination of the forbearance period, the Company will owe the remaining outstanding principal balance together with unpaid
interest. The Company may pay the notes in full at any time prior to the conclusion of the forbearance period.
 
NOTE 12 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
The Company has issued 575,188 shares of common stock for cash proceeds of $1.1 million upon exercise of certain April 2025 warrants since June 30, 2025.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
The following discussion and analysis provide information which our management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our consolidated results of
operations and financial condition. You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this report. In addition to historical financial information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements
based upon our current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements
as a result of various factors, including those set forth in the section within Part II-Other Information - titled “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”
 
References in the following discussion to “we”, “us”, “our” and the “Company” refer to Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries following the Closing of
the Business Combination. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to “LACQ” refer to Leisure Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation, prior to the Closing.
 
Overview
 
Ensysce is a clinical stage pharmaceutical company developing innovative solutions for severe pain relief while reducing the fear of and the potential for opioid misuse, abuse
and overdose. Our lead product candidate, PF614, is an extended release TAAP prodrug of oxycodone. TAAP modification of prescription drugs removed the ability to crush,
chew or manipulate and inject to achieve the effect of the medication more quickly than by swallowing. MPAR® adds a layer of overdose protection to each TAAP product.
 
Since our inception in 2003, we devoted substantially all of our efforts and financial resources to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital,
discovering product candidates and securing related intellectual property rights and conducting research and development activities for our product candidates. We do not have
any products approved for sale and we have not generated any revenue from product sales. We may never be able to develop or commercialize a marketable product.
 
Our lead product candidate, PF614, is in Phase 3 clinical development, PF614-MPAR is in Phase 1b clinical development and nafamostat has completed Phase 1 clinical
development. Our other product candidates and our research initiatives are in preclinical or earlier stages of development. Our ability to generate revenue from product sales
sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more of our product candidates. We have not yet
successfully completed any pivotal clinical trials, nor have we obtained any regulatory approvals, manufactured a commercial-scale drug, or conducted sales and marketing
activities.
 
We have incurred significant operating losses since inception and we expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. We expect that our expenses and capital
requirements will increase substantially in connection with our ongoing development activities, particularly if and as we:

 
 ● continue preclinical studies and continues existing and initiates new clinical trials for PF614, PF614-MPAR and nafamostat, our lead product candidates being tested

for chronic pain and infectious disease;
   
 ● advance the development of our product candidate pipeline of other product candidates, including through business development efforts to invest in or in-license other

technologies or product candidates;
   
 ● maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
   
 ● hire additional clinical, quality control, medical, scientific and other technical personnel to support our clinical operations;
   
 ● seek regulatory approval for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;
   
 ● undertake any pre-commercialization activities to establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for any product candidates for which we may receive

regulatory approval;
   
 ● expand our infrastructure and facilities to accommodate our growing employee base; and
   
 ● add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our research and development programs, any future

commercialization efforts and our transition to operating as a public company.
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We have incurred and expect to continue to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company, including significant legal, accounting, insurance, investor
relations and other expenses. We may never become profitable.
 
We require substantial additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our growth strategy. Until we can generate significant revenue from product sales, if
ever, we expect to finance our operations through a combination of private and public equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, which may include
collaborations with other companies or other strategic transactions. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of private or public equity or convertible debt
securities, existing ownership interests will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our equity
holders.
 
Debt financing and equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring
additional debt, issuing additional equity, making acquisitions or capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through collaborations or other
strategic transactions with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or drug candidates, or grant
licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. We may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other agreements or arrangements when needed on favorable
terms, or at all. If we fail to raise capital or enter into such agreements as and when needed, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development and
commercialization of one or more of our product candidates or delay our pursuit of potential in-licenses or acquisitions.
 
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of increased expenses or when or if we
will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to generate product sales, we may not become profitable. If we fail to become profitable or are unable to
sustain profitability on a continuing basis, we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels and be forced to reduce or terminate our operations.
 
We have generated limited revenues and have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and expect to continue to incur operating losses for the foreseeable
future. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our future viability is dependent on our ability to raise additional capital to finance
our operations. Without raising additional capital through a future offering, we believe that current cash on hand is sufficient to fund operations into the third quarter of 2025.
We based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could exhaust our available capital resources sooner than we expect. See “— Liquidity and Capital
Resources.” Our future viability beyond the twelve months is dependent on our ability to raise additional capital to finance our operations.
 
We expect to incur substantial expenses in the foreseeable future for the development and potential commercialization of our product candidates and ongoing internal research
and development programs. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate the nature, timing or aggregate amount of costs for our development, potential commercialization, and
internal research and development programs. However, in order to complete our current and future preclinical studies and clinical trials, and to complete the process of
obtaining regulatory approval for our product candidates, as well as to build the sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure that we believe will be necessary to
commercialize our product candidates, if approved, we may require substantial additional funding in the future.

 
2025 April Warrant Inducement
 
In April 2025, we entered into an Inducement Letter with certain warrant holders for the exercise of certain outstanding warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 630,736
share of our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share. The warrants were issued in March 2025 with an exercise price of $3.24 share. The shares of common stock issuable
upon exercise of such outstanding warrants are registered pursuant to an effective register statement on Form S-3.
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In consideration for the immediate exercise of the warrants for cash and the payment of an additional $0.125 per new unregistered warrant (an additional $157,594 included in
our gross proceeds), pursuant to the Inducement Agreement, we agreed to issue and sell unregistered warrants to purchase shares of common stock. The new warrants (the
“Common Warrants”) are exercisable for an aggregate of up to 1,260,752 shares of common stock. The Common Warrants have an exercise price of $1.90 per share and are
immediately exercisable for shares of common stock. One half of the Common Warrants will expire after eighteen (18) months and the other half will expire after five (5) years.
Our gross proceeds from the exercise of the warrants and payment for Common Warrants was approximately $2.2 million, prior to deducting placement agent fees and
estimated offering expenses.
 
We utilized a placement agent for the 2025 April Warrant Inducement and incurred approximately $0.3 million in legal fees and other closing costs. Additionally, we issued to
the placement agent as compensation unregistered warrants to purchase up to 44,126 shares of common stock, equal to 7.0% of the aggregate number of shares of Common
Stock (or warrants) placed in the transaction. The placement agent warrants expire on April 24, 2030, and have an exercise price of $4.05 per share of common stock. The
closing of the offering occurred on April 24, 2025.
 
2025 Registered Direct Offering and 2025 March Warrant Offering
 
In March 2025, we entered into a definitive SPA with certain institutional investors, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and sell in a registered direct offering, (i) an aggregate
of 239,594 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share at an offering price of $3.49 per share, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 75,594 shares of common
stock, at a price per pre-funded warrant equal to $3.4899, the price per share less $0.0001, for gross proceeds of approximately $1.1 million before the deduction of placement
agent fees and offering expenses. The pre-funded warrants were fully exercised as of March 31, 2025, and the related common shares were issued in April 2025.
 
In a concurrent private placement, pursuant to the terms of the SPA, we also agreed to issue and sell unregistered warrants to purchase up to 315,188 shares of Common Stock
(the “Series A-5 Warrants”), and Series A-6 warrants to purchase up to 315,188 shares of Common Stock (the “Series A-6 Warrants”), to purchase up to an aggregate 630,376
shares of Common Stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $3.24 per share and are exercisable immediately. The Series A-5 Warrants will expire eighteen (18) months
after issuance and the Series A-6 Warrants will expire five (5) years after issuance. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution adjustments to the exercise price, including for
share splits, share dividends, rights offering and pro rata distributions.
 
We agreed to pay the placement agent a cash fee equal to 7% of the aggregate gross proceeds of the offerings or $77,000. We also agreed to pay the placement agent $65,950
for expenses. We also issued to the placement agent warrants to purchase up to 22,063 shares of common stock. These warrants have an exercise price equal to $4.3625 per
share and are exercisable for five years.
 
2024 Registered Direct Offering and 2024 August Warrant Inducement
 
In August 2024, we entered into a definitive SPA with certain institutional investors, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and sell in a registered direct offering, (i) an
aggregate of 166,054 shares of our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share at an offering price of $7.05 per share, (ii) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 70,827 shares
of Common Stock, at a price per pre-funded warrant equal to $7.0485, the price per share less $0.0015, for gross proceeds of approximately $1.7 million before the deduction
of placement agent fees and offering expenses. The pre-funded warrants were subsequently exercised in full.
 
We also entered into an inducement agreement with certain warrant holders for the exercise of certain outstanding warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 480,234 shares of
our common stock originally issued in February 2024, having an exercise price of $15.90 per share, at a reduced exercise price of $7.05 per share, for gross proceeds of
approximately $3.4 million before the deduction of placement agent fees and offering expenses. We also agreed to amend certain existing warrants to purchase up to an
aggregate of 133,334 shares of common stock that were previously issued in November 2023 and have an exercise price of $23.5125 per share such that the amended warrants
will have a reduced exercise price of $7.05 per share effective upon the closing of the offering and will be exercisable from the date on which stockholder approval is received
with respect to the issuance of the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants.
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In a concurrent private placement, pursuant to the terms of the inducement agreement and SPA, we also agreed to issue and sell unregistered warrants to purchase up to
1,863,706 shares of common stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $7.05 per share and are exercisable from the date on which stockholder approval is received with
respect to the issuance of the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants. One half of the warrants will expire eighteen months after they are exercisable and
the other half will expire five years after they are exercisable. The warrants contain customary anti-dilution adjustments to the exercise price, including for share splits, share
dividends, rights offering and pro rata distributions.
 
We agreed to pay the placement agent a cash fee equal to 7% of the aggregate gross proceeds of the offerings or $354,000. We also agreed to pay the placement agent $100,950
for expenses. We also issued to the placement agent warrants to purchase up to 50,200 shares of common stock. These warrants have an exercise price equal to $8.8125 per
share and are exercisable for five years from the commencement of sales in the Offerings.
 
2024 February Warrant Inducement
 
In February 2024, we entered into an Inducement Letter with certain holders of existing warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 240,120 shares of our common stock issued
to the holders in connection with the 2023 May Offering. Pursuant to the Inducement Letter, the holders agreed to exercise for cash their existing warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 240,120 shares of Common Stock at a reduced exercise price of $19.65 per share in consideration of our agreement to issue new unregistered Series A Warrants to
purchase up to 240,120 shares of Common Stock and new unregistered Series B Warrants to purchase up to 240,120 shares of Common Stock. The Series A Warrants have an
exercise price of $15.90 per share and have a term equal to eighteen months from the date of issuance. The Series B Warrants have an exercise price of $15.90 per share and
will expire on May 12, 2028. The gross proceeds to us from the exercise of the warrants were approximately $4.7 million, prior to deducting placement agent fees and
estimated offering expenses.
 
In connection with the execution of the Inducement Letter, we entered into a waiver related to the 2023 Notes’ SPA it had entered into as of October 23, 2023. The SPA
contained restrictions on our ability to undertake certain transactions, which included entering into the Inducement Letter. The Waiver permitted us to enter into the Inducement
Letter but required repayment of the remaining $0.5 million of investor held notes issued under the SPA with a premium of $0.5 million following closing of the inducement
transaction.
 
We utilized an exclusive placement agent for the 2024 Warrant Inducement and incurred approximately $0.3 million in legal fees and other closing costs. Additionally, we
issued to the placement agent as compensation unregistered warrants to purchase up to 16,811 shares of Common Stock, equal to 7.0% of the aggregate number of shares of
Common Stock (or warrants) placed in the transaction. The placement agent warrants expire on May 12, 2028, and have an exercise price of $24.5625 per share of Common
Stock (equal to 125% of the reduced exercise price per Existing Warrant).
 
Components of Our Operating Results
 
Revenue
 
We have generated limited revenue since our inception and we do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products in the near future, if at all. If our development
efforts are successful and we commercialize our products, or if we enter into collaboration or license agreements with third parties, we may generate revenue in the future from
product sales, as well as upfront, milestone and royalty payments from such collaboration or license agreements, or a combination thereof.
 
We have received funding under federal grants from the NIH through NIDA. In September 2018 and August 2024, we were awarded a research and development MPAR Grant.
In September 2019, we were awarded a second research and development OUD grant related to the development of our TAAP/MPAR® abuse deterrent technology. Grant funds
are awarded annually through a Notice of Award which contains certain terms and conditions including, but not limited to, complying with the grant program legislation,
regulation and policy requirements, complying with conditions on expenditures of funds with respect to other applicable statutory requirements such as the federal
appropriations acts, periodic reporting requirements, and budget requirements.
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Operating Expenses
 
Research and Development Expenses
 
Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for research activities, including drug discovery efforts and the development of our product candidates.
We expense research and development costs as incurred, which include:

 
 ● expenses incurred to conduct the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials required to obtain regulatory approval;
   
 ● expenses incurred under agreements with CROs that are primarily engaged in the oversight and conduct of our drug discovery efforts and preclinical studies, clinical

trials and CMOs that are primarily engaged to provide preclinical and clinical drug substance and product for our research and development programs;
   
 ● other costs related to acquiring and manufacturing materials in connection with our drug discovery efforts and preclinical studies and clinical trial materials, including

manufacturing validation batches, as well as investigative sites and consultants that conduct our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other scientific development
services;

   
 ● payments made in cash or equity securities under third-party licensing, acquisition and option agreements;
   
 ● employee-related expenses, including salaries and benefits, travel and stock-based compensation expense for employees engaged in research and development

functions;
   
 ● costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements; and
   
 ● allocated facilities-related costs, depreciation and other expenses, which include rent and utilities.

 
We recognize external development costs as incurred. Any advance payments that we make for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and
development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses. Such amounts are expensed as the related goods are delivered or the related services are performed, or until it is no
longer expected that the goods will be delivered or the services rendered. We estimate and accrue for the value of goods and services received from CROs and other third
parties each reporting period based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using information provided to us by our service providers. This process
involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the level
of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual costs.
 
We do not track our research and development expenses on a program-by-program basis. Our direct external research and development expenses consist primarily of external
costs, such as fees paid to outside consultants, CROs, CMOs and research laboratories in connection with our preclinical development, process development, manufacturing
and clinical development activities. We do not allocate employee costs, costs associated with our discovery efforts, laboratory supplies, and facilities, including depreciation or
other indirect costs, to specific programs because these costs are deployed across multiple programs and, as such, are not separately classified. We use internal resources
primarily to conduct our research and development as well as to manage our preclinical development, process development, manufacturing and clinical development activities.
These employees work across multiple programs and, therefore, we do not track our costs by program and cannot state precisely the total costs incurred for each of our clinical
and preclinical programs on a project-by-project basis.
 
Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs than
those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials. As a result, we expect that our research and
development expenses will remain elevated as we continue our existing, and commence additional, planned clinical trials for PF614, PF614-MPAR® and nafamostat, as well as
conduct other preclinical and clinical development, including submitting regulatory filings for our other product candidates, subject to our ability to obtain financing. We also
expect our related personnel costs to increase and, as a result, we expect our research and development expenses, including costs associated with stock-based compensation, to
remain elevated. In addition, we may incur additional expenses related to milestone and royalty payments payable to third parties with whom we may enter into license,
acquisition and option agreements to acquire the rights to future product candidates.
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At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know the nature, timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the preclinical and clinical development of any
of our product candidates or when, if ever, material net cash inflows may commence from any of our product candidates. The successful development and commercialization of
our product candidates are highly uncertain. This uncertainty is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development and commercialization,
including the uncertainty of the following:

 
 ● the scope, progress, outcome and costs of our preclinical development activities, clinical trials and other research and development activities;
   
 ● establishing an appropriate safety and efficacy profile with investigational new drug (“IND”) enabling studies;
   
 ● successful patient enrollment in and the initiation and completion of clinical trials;
   
 ● the timing, receipt and terms of any marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities including the FDA and non-U.S. regulators;
   
 ● the extent of any required post-marketing approval commitments to applicable regulatory authorities;
   
 ● establishing clinical and commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers in order to ensure that we or our third-party

manufacturers are able to make product successfully;
   
 ● development and timely delivery of clinical-grade and commercial-grade drug formulations that can be used in our clinical trials and for commercial launch;
   
 ● obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
   
 ● significant and changing government regulation;
   
 ● launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others; and
   
 ● maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of our product candidates following approval, if any, of our product candidates.

 
Any changes in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of our product candidates in preclinical and clinical development could mean a
significant change in the costs and timing associated with the development of these product candidates. For example, if the FDA or another regulatory authority were to delay
our planned start of clinical trials or require us to conduct clinical trials or other testing beyond those that we currently expect or if we experience significant delays in
enrollment in any of our planned clinical trials, we could be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical development of
that product candidate.
 
General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses, including salaries and related benefits, travel and stock-based compensation for personnel
in executive, business development, finance, human resources, legal, information technology, and administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include
direct and allocated facility-related costs as well as insurance costs and professional fees for legal, patent, consulting, investor and public relations, accounting and audit
services. We expense general and administrative costs as incurred.
 
We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we increase our headcount to support the continued development of our product
candidates, subject to our ability to obtain financing. We also anticipate that we will continue to incur significant accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance and director
and officer insurance costs as well as investor and public relations expenses. Additionally, if and when we believe a regulatory approval of a product candidate appears likely,
we anticipate an increase in payroll and other employee-related expenses as a result of our preparation for commercial operations, especially as it relates to the sales and
marketing of that product candidate.
 

22



 
 
Other Income (Expense)
 
Change in fair value of liability classified warrants
 
We use a Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of the warrants. Changes in the fair value of the warrants are recognized through earnings for each
reporting period.
 
Interest Expense
 
Interest expense consists of interest accrued on our financed directors’ and officers’ insurance, and interest from the 2023 Notes based on the stated interest rate. In addition, the
2023 Notes reflects amortization of the debt discount from the original issuance and a discount associated with the warrant issuances and amortization of the associated debt
issuance costs that are all recorded as interest expense.
 
Provision for Income Taxes
 
We have not recorded any significant amounts related to income tax expense, we have not recognized any reserves related to uncertain tax positions, nor have we recorded any
income tax benefits for the majority of our net losses we have incurred to date or for our research and development tax credits.
 
We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences
of events that have been included in the financial statements or our tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on difference between the financial
statement carrying amounts and tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and for loss and credit carryforwards, which are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws in
effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. The realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income, the
amount and timing of which are uncertain. Valuation allowances are provided, if, based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of June 30, 2025, and December 31, 2024, we continue to maintain a full valuation allowance against all of our deferred tax assets
based on our evaluation of all available evidence.

 
Beginning in 2022, the Tax Cuts and JOBS Act, or the Tax Act, eliminated the option to deduct research and development expenditures currently and requires taxpayers to
capitalize and amortize them over five or fifteen years pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 174. This has not impacted our effective tax rate or our cash tax payable in
2024; however, if the requirement to capitalize Section 174 expenditures is not modified, it may also impact our effective tax rate and our cash tax liability in future years.
 
We file income tax returns in the United States federal tax jurisdiction and state jurisdictions and may become subject to income tax audit and adjustments by related tax
authorities. Our tax return period for United States federal income taxes for the tax years since 2021 remain open to examination under the statute of limitations by the Internal
Revenue Service and state jurisdictions. We record reserves for potential tax payments to various tax authorities related to uncertain tax positions, if any. The nature of uncertain
tax positions is subject to significant judgment by management and subject to change, which may be substantial. These reserves are based on a determination of whether and
how much a tax benefit taken by us in our tax filings or whether our position is more likely than not to be realized following the resolution of any potential contingencies
related to the tax benefit. We develop our assessment of uncertain tax positions, and the associated cumulative probabilities, using internal expertise and assistance from third-
party experts. As additional information becomes available, estimates are revised and refined. Differences between estimates and final settlement may occur resulting in
additional tax expense. Potential interest and penalties associated with such uncertain tax positions is recorded as a component of our provision for income taxes. To date, no
amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position.
 

23



 
 
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024
 
Results of Operations
 
Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,     
  2025   2024   Change  
Federal grants  $ 1,371,438  $ 181,797  $ 1,189,641 
Operating expenses:             

Research and development   1,923,430   947,229   976,201 
General and administrative   1,198,523   1,190,010   8,513 

Total operating expenses   3,121,953   2,137,239   984,714 
Loss from operations   (1,750,515)   (1,955,442)   204,927 
Other income (expense):             

Change in fair value of liability classified warrants   (853)   7,818   (8,671)
Interest expense   (3,160)   (27,563)   24,403 
Other income and expense, net   21,011   7,394   13,617 

Total other income (expenses), net   16,998   (12,351)   29,349 
Net loss   (1,733,517)   (1,967,793)   234,276 

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   (166)   -   (166)
Deemed dividend related to warrants down round provision   -   -   - 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (1,733,351)  $ (1,967,793)  $ 234,442 
 
Federal Grants
 
Revenue from federal grants totaled $1.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, respectively.
The $1.2 million difference is due to the timing of research activities eligible for funding, with increased activities in 2025 under the MPAR grant which began in September
2024. The 2024 period included limited funding under the OUD grant with research activity constrained until the selection of a lead product candidate in June 2024.
 
Research and Development Expenses
 
Research and development expenses were $1.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024,
representing an increase of $1.0 million. The increase was primarily the result of external research and development costs related to increased clinical and pre-clinical activity
for PF614-MPAR in the 2025 period. We expect future research and development expenses to increase once we begin the Phase 3 clinical trial for PF614, with such timing
dependent upon our ability to raise capital sufficient to fund these expenses.
 
General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses were $1.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025, and the three months ended June 30, 2024. We expect future general and
administrative expenses to approximate current levels.
 
Other Income and Expense
 
Other income and expense for the three months ended June 30, 2025, consisted primarily of interest income from cash and cash equivalents. The comparative period for 2024
consisted primarily of interest expense associated with the amortization of the original issue discount and the debt issuance costs for the 2023 Notes.
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Results of Operations
 
Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024:
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,   
  2025  2024  Change

Federal grants  $ 2,691,210  $ 487,519  $ 2,203,691 
Operating expenses:             

Research and development   3,808,957   1,726,133   2,082,824 
General and administrative   2,600,279   2,559,791   40,488 

Total operating expenses   6,409,236   4,285,924   2,123,312 
Loss from operations   (3,718,026)   (3,798,405)   80,379 
Other income (expense):             

Change in fair value of liability classified warrants   9,063   16,773   (7,710)
Interest expense   (7,017)   (1,275,628)   1,268,611 
Other income and expense, net   36,890   (27,096)   63,986 

Total other income (expenses), net   38,936   (1,285,951)   1,324,887 
Net loss   (3,679,090)   (5,084,356)   1,405,266 

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   (166)   (74)   (92)
Deemed dividend related to warrants down round provision   —     290   (290)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (3,678,924)  $ (5,084,572)  $ 1,405,648 
 
Federal grant funding
 
Funding from federal grants for the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaled $2.7 million and $0.5 million, respectively. The increase of approximately $2.2 million is
due to the timing of research activities eligible for funding, as funding under the initial MPAR grant was completed in December 2023 and funding under a subsequent MPAR
grant began in September 2024.
Research and development expenses
 
Research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 were $3.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively, representing a increase of $2.1 million.
The increase was primarily the result of external research and development costs related to increased clinical and pre-clinical programs for PF614 and PF614-MPAR. We expect
future research and development expenses to increase once we begin the Phase 3 clinical trial for PF614, with such timing dependent upon our ability to raise capital sufficient
to fund these expenses.
 
General and administrative expenses
 
General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 were $2.6 million for each period. We expect future general and administrative expenses
to approximate current levels.
 
Other income and expense
 
Other income and expense for the six months ended June 30, 2025, consisted primarily of interest income from cash and cash equivalents. Other income and expense for the six
months ended June 30, 2024, consisted primarily of interest expense associated with the amortization of the original issue discount and the debt issuance costs associated with
the 2023 Notes.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Sources of Liquidity and Capital
 
As of June 30, 2025, we had $2.2 million of cash and cash equivalents. Since inception, we have generated limited revenues and have incurred significant operating losses and
negative cash flows from our operations, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for at least the foreseeable future. We have not yet commercialized any of our
product candidates and we do not expect to generate revenue from sales of any product candidates for several years, if at all.
 
We have funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from the sale of common equity, exercise of warrants for common equity, funding under federal research grants
and borrowings under convertible promissory notes. To fund future operations, we will need to raise additional capital. The amount and timing of future funding requirements
will depend on many factors, including the timing and results of our ongoing research and development efforts and related general and administrative support. We anticipate
that we will fund our operations through public or private equity or debt financings or other sources, such as potential collaboration agreements. We cannot make assurances
that anticipated additional financing will be available to us on favorable terms, if at all.
 
The remaining funding under the MPAR federal research grant totaled $9.4 million at June 30, 2025, and is expected to be utilized by May 31, 2027. Pursuant to the terms and
conditions, we are required to submit progress reports to NIDA on an annual basis and a final research performance progress report within 120 days of the performance period
end date.
 
Going Concern
 
We have generated limited revenues and have incurred significant operating losses since our inception. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses
for the foreseeable future. Without capital raised through financing transactions, existing cash resources are sufficient to allow us to fund current planned operations into the
fourth quarter of 2025, which raises substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
 
Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2025, and 2024
 
The following table summarizes our cash flows for each of the periods presented:
 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2025   2024  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (4,414,280)  $ (5,718,294)
Net cash provided by financing activities   3,123,778   5,637,921 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  $ (1,290,502)  $ (80,373)
 
Operating Activities
 
During the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, we used cash in operating activities of $4.4 million and $5.7 million, respectively. The decrease primarily resulted from
greater cash inflows from grant funding in 2025 and a reduction in cash outlays for accounts payable in 2025.
 
Financing Activities
 
During the six months ended June 30, 2025, net cash provided by financing activities was $3.1 million, primarily consisting of net proceeds from warrant inducements, a public
offering of common stock and warrant exercises. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, net cash provided by financing activities was $5.6 million, primarily consisting of
net proceeds from a warrant inducement and warrant exercises, less repayment of convertible notes.
 
Funding Requirements
 
Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, primarily related to our research and development activities. Cash used to fund operating expenses is impacted by the
timing of when we pay these expenses, as reflected in the change in our outstanding accounts payable, accrued expenses and prepaid expenses.
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We expect our expenses, excluding non-cash expenses to recognize the fair value of warrants and convertible notes, to remain elevated in connection with our ongoing
activities, particularly as we advance the preclinical activities and clinical trials of our product candidates. In addition, we have incurred, and will continue to incur, additional
costs associated with operating as a public company, including significant legal, accounting, insurance, investor relations and other expenses. The timing and amount of our
operating expenditures will depend largely on our ability to:

 
 ● advance preclinical development of our early-stage programs and clinical trials of our product candidates;
   
 ● manufacture, or have manufactured on our behalf, our preclinical and clinical drug material and develop processes for late state and commercial manufacturing;
   
 ● seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;
   
 ● establish a sales, marketing, medical affairs and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any product candidates for which we may obtain marketing approval and

intend to commercialize on our own;
   
 ● hire additional clinical, quality control and scientific personnel;
   
 ● expand our operational, financial and management systems and increase personnel, including personnel to support our clinical development, manufacturing and

commercialization efforts and our operations as a public company;
   
 ● obtain, maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
   
 ● manage the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and protecting our intellectual property rights, including enforcing and

defending intellectual property related claims; and
   
 ● manage the costs of operating as a public company.
 
Commitments
 
Our commitments as of June 30, 2025, included an estimated $8.3 million related to open purchase orders and contractual obligations that occurred in the ordinary course of
business, including commitments with contract research organizations for multi-year pre-clinical and clinical research studies. Although open purchase orders are considered
enforceable and legally binding, the terms generally allow us the option to cancel, reschedule, and adjust requirements based on our business needs prior to the delivery of
goods or the performance of services.
 
Working Capital
 
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with research, development and commercialization of biologic product candidates, we are unable to estimate the
exact amount of our working capital requirements. Our future funding requirements will depend on and could increase significantly as a result of many factors, including:

 
 ● the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing our product candidates, and conducting preclinical and clinical trials;
   
 ● the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;
   
 ● the costs, timing and ability to manufacture our product candidates to supply our clinical and preclinical development efforts and our clinical trials;
   
 ● the costs of future activities, including product sales, medical affairs, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, for any of our product candidates for which we

receive marketing approval;
   
 ● the costs of manufacturing commercial-grade product and necessary inventory to support commercial launch;
 

27



 
 
 ● the ability to receive additional non-dilutive funding, including grants from organizations and foundations;
   
 ● the revenue, if any, received from commercial sale of our products, should any of our product candidates receive marketing approval;
   
 ● the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, obtaining, maintaining, expanding and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending

intellectual property-related claims;
   
 ● our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all; and
   
 ● the extent to which we acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
 
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, costs and expenses. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and
events and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
 
While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 3 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our 2024 Annual Report on Form
10-K, we believe that the following accounting policy is the most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
 
Accrued Research and Development Expenses
 
As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued research and development expenses. This process involves
reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our applicable personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the
level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when it has not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual costs. Many of our service providers
invoice us in arrears for services performed, on a pre-determined schedule or when contractual milestones are met; however, some require advance payments. We make
estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in the consolidated financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time. We
periodically confirm the accuracy of the estimates with the service providers and adjust if necessary. Examples of estimated accrued research and development expenses include
fees paid to:

 
 ● vendors, including research laboratories, in connection with preclinical development activities;
   
 ● CROs and investigative sites in connection with preclinical studies and clinical trials; and
   
 ● CMOs in connection with drug substance and drug product formulation of preclinical studies and clinical trial materials.
 
We base our expenses related to preclinical studies and clinical trials on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to quotes and contracts with
multiple research institutions and CROs that supply, conduct and manage preclinical studies and clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject
to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of
services provided and result in a prepayment of the expense. Payments under some of these contracts depend on factors such as the successful enrollment of patients and the
completion of clinical trial milestones. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each
period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from the estimate, we adjust the accrual or the prepaid expense accordingly. Although we
do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, our understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual
status and timing of services performed may vary and may result in reporting amounts that are too high or too low in any period.
 

28



 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
We do not have during the periods presented, and do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC.
 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 
A description of recently issued accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position and results of operations is disclosed in Note 3 to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
Smaller Reporting Company Status
 
We are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting companies may take advantage of certain reduced disclosure
obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years of audited financial statements. We will remain a smaller reporting company until the last day of the fiscal
year in which (i) the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $250 million as of the prior June 30, or (ii) our annual revenues exceeded $100 million
during such completed fiscal year and the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
 
We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily relate to changes in interest rates and inflation.
 
Interest Rate Risk
 
Our cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2025, consisted of cash and a money market fund account. Because of the short-term nature of our money market fund, a sudden
change in market interest rates would not be expected to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
 
Inflation Risk
 
We do not believe that inflation and changing prices had a significant impact on our results of operations for any periods presented herein.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a–15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of June 30, 2025. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2025. Management has concluded that our financial statements
included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are fairly stated in all material respects in accordance with GAAP for each of the periods presented therein.
 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal
quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
 
From time to time, we could become involved in disputes and various litigation matters that arise in the normal course of business. These may include disputes and lawsuits
related to intellectual property, licensing, contract law and employee relations matters. Periodically, we review the status of significant matters, if any exist, and assesses its
potential financial exposure. If the potential loss from any claim or legal claim is considered probable and the amount can be estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimated
loss. Legal proceedings are subject to uncertainties, and the outcomes are difficult to predict. Because of such uncertainties, accruals are based on the best information available
at the time. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to pending claims and litigation.
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
 
While we attempt to identify, manage and mitigate risks and uncertainties associated with our business to the extent practical, under the circumstances, some level of risk and
uncertainty will always be present. Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors of our 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K includes a detailed discussion of our risk factors. Those risks and
uncertainties have the potential to materially affect our financial condition and results of operations.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
 
Information concerning the sale of unregistered securities in April 2025 was disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 24, 2025.
 
On April 7, 2025, the Company entered into an agreement with a former independent contractor to resolve a dispute over payment, pursuant to which the Company issued
20,000 shares, bearing a restrictive legend, as compensation. The issuance involved no underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or public offering and was exempt
from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act (and Regulation D promulgated thereunder) as a transaction by an issuer not
involving any public offering.
 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
 
Not applicable.
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
 
Not applicable.
 
Item 5. Other Information
 
None.
 
Item 6. Exhibits.
 
The following exhibits are filed as part of this report:
 
Exhibit
Number

 
Description

31.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
 
* Filed herewith.
 

30

https://content.equisolve.net/ensysce/sec/0001641172-25-023512/for_pdf/ex31-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/ensysce/sec/0001641172-25-023512/for_pdf/ex31-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/ensysce/sec/0001641172-25-023512/for_pdf/ex31-2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/ensysce/sec/0001641172-25-023512/for_pdf/ex31-2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/ensysce/sec/0001641172-25-023512/for_pdf/ex32-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/ensysce/sec/0001641172-25-023512/for_pdf/ex32-2.htm


 
 

SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.
 
 ENSYSCE BIOSCIENCES, INC.
  
Date: August 13, 2025 /s/ David Humphrey
 David Humphrey
 Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer
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Exhibit 31.1

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Lynn Kirkpatrick, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ensysce Biosciences, Inc.;
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 
 a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

   
 b. (Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);
   
 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
   
 d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
   
 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Date: August 13, 2025   
  /s/ Lynn Kirkpatrick
 Name: Lynn Kirkpatrick
 Title: Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

 
 

 



 
Exhibit 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, David Humphrey, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Ensysce Biosciences, Inc.;
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 
 a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

   
 b. (Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);
   
 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
   
 d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and

the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
   
 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Date: August 13, 2025   
  /s/ David Humphrey
 Name: David Humphrey
 Title: Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)

 
 

 
 



 
Exhibit 32.1

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2025, as filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Lynn Kirkpatrick, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
   
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company at the end of the period covered by the

Report and results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Report.
 
Date: August 13, 2025 /s/ Lynn Kirkpatrick
 Lynn Kirkpatrick
 Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)
 

This certification accompanies the Report and shall not be deemed “filed” by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made
before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

 
 



 
Exhibit 32.2

 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Ensysce Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2025, as filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David Humphrey, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

 
 1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
   
 2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company at the end of the period covered by the

Report and results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Report.
 
Dated: August 13, 2025 /s/ David Humphrey
 David Humphrey
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer)
 

This certification accompanies the Report and shall not be deemed “filed” by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made
before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

 
 

 


